Vaccine 37 (2019) 5515-5524

Contents lists available at ScienceDirect

Vaccine

journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/vaccine

Estimating the protection afforded by foot-and-mouth disease vaccines in the laboratory



Vaccine

D.J. Paton^{a,*}, R. Reeve^b, A.V. Capozzo^{c,d}, A. Ludi^a

^a The Pirbright Institute, Ash Road, Pirbright, Surrey GU24 ONF, UK

^b Boyd Orr Centre for Population and Ecosystem Health, Institute of Biodiversity, Animal Health and Comparative Medicine, College of Medical, Veterinary and Life Sciences, University of Glasgow, Glasgow G12 8QQ, UK

^c Instituto de Virología, CICVyA, INTA, N Repetto y De Los Reseros s/n, Hurlingham (1686), Buenos Aires, Argentina

^d Consejo Nacional de Investigaciones Científicas y Tecnológicas, CONICET, Godoy Cruz 2290 (C1454FQB), Buenos Aires, Argentina

ARTICLE INFO

Article history: Received 28 June 2019 Received in revised form 28 July 2019 Accepted 31 July 2019 Available online 9 August 2019

Keywords: FMD Vaccine Selection Serology Protection Quality control

ABSTRACT

Foot-and-mouth disease (FMD) vaccines must be carefully selected and their application closely monitored to optimise their effectiveness. This review covers serological techniques for FMD vaccine quality control, including potency testing, vaccine matching and post-vaccination monitoring. It also discusses alternative laboratory procedures, such as antigen quantification and nucleotide sequencing, and briefly compares the approaches for FMD with those for measuring protection against influenza virus, where humoral immunity is also important. Serology is widely used to predict the protection afforded by vaccines and has great practical utility but also limitations. Animals differ in their responses to vaccines and in the protective mechanisms that they develop. Antibodies have a variety of properties and tests differ in what they measure. Antibody-virus interactions may vary between virus serotypes and strains and protection may be affected by the vaccination regime and the nature and timing of field virus challenge. Finally, tests employing biological reagents are difficult to standardise, whilst cross-protection data needed for test calibration and validation are scarce. All of this is difficult to reconcile with the desire for simple and universal criteria and thresholds for evaluating vaccines and vaccination responses and means that oversimplification of test procedures and their interpretation can lead to poor predictions. A holistic approach is therefore recommended, considering multiple sources of field, experimental and laboratory data. New antibody avidity and isotype tests seem promising alternatives to evaluate crossprotective, post-vaccination serological responses, taking account of vaccine potency as well as match. After choosing appropriate serological tests or test combinations and cut-offs, results should be interpreted cautiously and in context. Since opportunities for experimental challenge studies of crossprotection are limited and the approaches incompletely reflect real life, more field studies are needed to quantify cross-protection and its correlation to in vitro measurements.

© 2019 Published by Elsevier Ltd.

Contents

1.	Introduction	5516
2.	FMD diversity and protective immunity	5516
3.	Vaccine induced protection against FMD	5516
4.	FMD cross-protection	5517
5.	Applications of serological tests in evaluating FMD vaccines and vaccination	5517
6.	Traditional serological tests	5518
7.	Measuring antigenic relationships	5518
8.	Measuring other properties of antibodies	5519
9.	Difficulties with antigenic relationship tests	5519
10.	Establishing antibody thresholds for measuring protection	5520

* Corresponding author.

E-mail addresses: david.paton@pirbright.ac.uk, dajapaton@gmail.com (D.J. Paton).

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vaccine.2019.07.102 0264-410X/© 2019 Published by Elsevier Ltd.



Review

11.	Estimating vaccine potency from antigen content	5520
12.	Sequence-based approaches to vaccine strain selection	5520
13.	Serology as a measure of protection for influenza	5520
14.	Conclusions.	5522
	Declaration of Competing Interest	5522
	Acknowledgements	5522
	References	5522

1. Introduction

Foot-and-mouth disease (FMD) is caused by a highly contagious virus (FMDV) eradicated from parts of the world but still common in Africa and Asia [1]. FMDV infects cloven-hoofed, domestic and wildlife species, can be disseminated by a variety of means and causes widespread illness and economic loss due to the disease, costs of control and trade losses. The virus is in the genus *Aphthovirus*, family *Picornaviridae* and exists as multiple serotypes that do not cross-protect, with incomplete intra-serotype cross-protection between some strains [2–5]. Particular serotypes and strains predominate in different parts of the world, with seven global pools recognised. The epidemiology of the disease is characterised by cyclical patterns of increased incidence and spread, reflecting the waxing and waning of population immunity, virus evolution and transmission opportunities [6].

Vaccines are extensively used for prophylaxis and emergency response and can be highly effective in limiting disease and the spread of the infection [7]. However, many factors that can influence the success of vaccination must be carefully controlled [8,9]. The changing patterns of FMD occurrence and viral antigenic phenotypes necessitate ongoing surveillance and review of the protection afforded by vaccines, facilitated by an international network of reference laboratories (https://www.foot-and-mouth.org/Ref-Lab-Network) and leading to regional and in some cases national vaccine strain recommendations [10,11]. Methods, especially laboratory techniques, to measure and predict vaccine induced protection are the subject of this review, complementing publications focussing on vaccine strain selection [12,13].

2. FMD diversity and protective immunity

There are seven serotypes of FMDV: one unrecorded since 2004 (serotype C), three largely restricted to Africa (Southern African Territory serotypes 1, 2 and 3) and one to Asia (serotype Asia 1). In contrast, serotypes O and A are widely distributed; serotype O being the most common (\sim 70% of recorded outbreaks) whilst serotype A exhibits greater antigenic diversity. There is continuous evolutionary diversification of the pool of circulating viruses with periodic emergence of new strains and replacement of old ones [14,15,3].

The immune response to FMDV infection involves innate and adaptive immunity [16], mostly studied in cattle, which develop a serotype-specific protection against disease that can be long-lasting [17]. Antibodies transferred through colostrum or passive immunization can prevent FMD [18]. Current commercial vaccines produced from inactivated, cell culture grown virus capsids provide serotype-specific and antibody-mediated protection, but the immune response is qualitatively and quantitatively different to that induced by infection [19]. Immunity and detectable antibodies decline after primary vaccination and must be boosted to sustain protection [20,21]. Anamnestic responses to emergency vaccination can rapidly induce protective immunity, even in animals with low levels of circulating antibody [8]. Long-lasting immunity may develop after multiple rounds of vaccination [22].

Protective antibodies are directed against the surface of the icosahedral FMDV capsid formed of hierarchically arranged and repeating viral subunits (see Fig. 1 and [23]). The target epitopes are often conformational, involving a three-dimensional interaction between different viral proteins, protomers or pentamers. The virus capsid attaches to target cells via a conserved receptor binding site, but other exposed amino acids are highly variable and act as immune decoys [24]. Antibody binding is focussed on antigenic sites, where amino acid changes are frequent and can substantially affect cross-protection between viruses [13].

3. Vaccine induced protection against FMD

Protection induced by vaccination can be measured by potency tests in which vaccinated animals are inoculated with a fixed, high dose of virulent virus by a defined route given at specified times after immunisation. Potency tests in cattle have two international standards [25] but tests in pigs are also used, for example, in China [26]. The ability of vaccination to prevent the virus from disseminating, to cause foot lesions, after intradermolingual (cattle) or intramuscular (pig) inoculation, is taken as the measure of protection with comparison to unvaccinated but challenged, control animals. A design in which all animals receive the dose of vaccine that will be used in the field (PGP design; protection against generalised podal infection) provides a probability of protection where 75% is the pass mark (12 out of 16 animals protected). Subdividing the vaccinated animals into smaller groups, given different vaccine doses (PD₅₀ design; 50% protective dose) provides a quantitative measure of vaccine potency and the minimum pass mark is 3PD₅₀. If all vaccinated animals are protected, then the limit of protection is not established, reducing discrimination between high potency vaccines as an indicator of cross-protection. The findings have high confidence intervals due to variation in the responses of individual animals and the limitation on numbers of animals used per test. The power of PD₅₀ tests can be improved by optimising the relationship between the vaccine doses tested and the desired protection threshold [27].

The protection afforded by vaccination depends upon the antigen dose and integrity, the formulation of the adjuvant, the antigenic match between the vaccine and challenge viruses and the route, weight and timing of the challenge [28,29,30]. Vaccination schedule, herd immunity and complementary control measures will also have a major impact on protection in the field [8,20,31] (Fig. 2).

While potency tests occur under well-defined and controlled conditions, the circumstances of field vaccination and challenge will be diverse. For example, vaccine antigen integrity (affected by expiry date and cold chain) and proficiency of administration will influence the effective antigen dose, whilst species, breed, prior immunity (including maternal immunity) and vaccination, as well as general nutritional and health status may affect the ability to respond to vaccination [32,33]. Additionally, field vaccines are often multivalent, containing antigens of different serotypes, and/or different strains of a given serotype. Potency tests have the advantage of being standardised but may not mimic the most



Fig. 1. Schematic for relationships between protomer, pentamer, capsid and antibody. (A) Protomer surface-exposed amino acids coloured to show variability (based on 150 Serotype O FMDV capsids) from blue (most variable) to red (least variable). (B) & (C) Protomer/pentamer surface-exposed amino acids coloured according to protein of origin (VP1, blue; VP2, green; VP3, red). (D). Antibody immunoglobulin (IgG) to scale with the virus, coloured pink (light chains) and purple (heavy chains). Images compiled from Borley D (2012) [23] with permission. (For interpretation of the references to colour in this figure legend, the reader is referred to the web version of this article.)



Fig. 2. Efficacy triad of potency, match and schedule. *Potency = strength of elicited protective immunity, principally determined by antigen dose and properties (intrinsic immunogenicity and integrity) and adjuvant.

common routes of natural infection, namely inhalation (in the case of ruminants) or ingestion (in the case of pigs) of lower challenge doses of field virus. The tests measure protection from disease, whereas blocking transmission may be a key objective of some vaccination programmes. Studies to determine the protective effect of FMD vaccines in the field are rare and published accounts have been limited by being retrospective rather than prospective [34,35].

The amount of anti-capsid antibody present at the point of challenge is correlated to clinical protection [28,36]. However, individual animals vary in both the level of antibody induced by vaccination and that required for protection. Pay (1984) [8] reported a standard deviation of 0.4 for the log virus neutralisation test (VNT) antibody response to primary vaccination of cattle, equating to 95% of responses being between 1:20–1:720 for a mean of 1:120. There is also a grey area, in which low levels of antibody may or may not be protective, whilst some animals may be protected without detectable antibodies [37]. Animals with low levels of total antibodies but high lgG1 or strong interferon gamma responses to *in vitro* antigen restimulation could be protected [38,39].

4. FMD cross-protection

Potency tests required for registration and batch release testing of vaccines [25] are usually based on homologous challenge, in which vaccinated animals are inoculated with a virulent version of the same virus incorporated into the vaccine. In contrast, heterologous challenge tests are uncommon and carried out for research or commissioned on an *ad hoc* basis to verify *in-vitro* antigenic matching test results, usually to predict the protection afforded against an emerging threat.

Cross-protection between strains of serotype A and its correlation with serology was studied in [40]. As expected, the prechallenge antibody titres to the challenge virus, measured by VNT, were a better predictor of protection (up to 70% sensitivity at 87% specificity) than those against the homologous vaccine strain. The study also illustrated the inter-relationship between vaccine potency and antigenic match, in that high potency vaccines (some \geq 32 PD₅₀) eliciting strong homologous antibody responses could provide cross-protection against heterologous challenge strains despite a poor antigenic match (Fig. 2). Re-vaccination and combining multiple vaccine strains can also broaden the antibody response, improving the likelihood of cross-protective immunity [41–43].

5. Applications of serological tests in evaluating FMD vaccines and vaccination

Serological tests that measure anti-virus capsid antibodies (SP tests for structural protein antibodies) can be used to assess

protection afforded by vaccines (or prior infection). Other antibodies, produced after infection and directed against viral nonstructural proteins (NSP tests), can be used to quantify infection in vaccinated populations as an indicator of vaccination impact [44] but are not considered in this review.

SP tests are used as indirect measures of vaccine potency and match in order to address a number of practical questions about vaccines and vaccination ([9,25]; Table 1).

One-way antigenic relationship tests (r_1 or matching tests) are used by international reference laboratories and vaccine manufacturers to assess the cross-reactive potential of viruses in existing or candidate vaccines against identified virus threats [12,25]. An advantage is that the testing laboratory does not need access to virus or antiserum from a particular vaccine batch, because it is the antigenic suitability of the vaccine strain that is being measured. However, the test does not take account of vaccine potency or vaccination schedule that will also have a major influence on the protection afforded (Fig. 2). Once a batch of vaccine, dose and schedule has been provisionally selected, a better predictor of protection is the strength of the antibody reactivity induced against the field virus for which protection is sought [40], an approach so far mainly used to assess population immunity after vaccination.

6. Traditional serological tests

The two main tests that have been used to measure SP FMD antibodies, as indicators of immunity, are ELISA, principally the liquid phase blocking ELISA (LPBE), and the VNT (Table 2).

Table 1

Use of serological tests to evaluate vaccine match or efficacy.

Extensive studies have correlated potency test outcomes with pre-challenge antibody titres measured using the VNT and LPBE [45–47]. The threshold for protection is higher in LPBE than VNT and with either test, the threshold can differ between virus sero-types and strains. The correlation between VNT titres and protection may be laboratory dependent, due to a lack of interlaboratory reproducibility [45,48].

Commercially available, solid phase competition ELISAs (SPCE) have become alternatives to the LPBE for SP serology. However, for use in vaccine evaluation, their correlation with protection has to be validated by either cross-calibration to gold standard methods, or ideally by testing sera from potency tests where the vaccinated animals have known protection test outcomes. There is, as yet, little data on their power to predict protection [49]. Another limitation, is that whereas the test reagents (viruses in the case of VNT and virus antigens and detecting antibodies in the case of LPBE) can be matched to the vaccine or field viruses for VNT and LPBE, the antigens and blocking antibodies are fixed and usually of unknown antigenic relevance (beyond serotype) in commercial assays.

7. Measuring antigenic relationships

When used for vaccine matching, one-way antigenic relationship (r_1) tests employing VNT must be repeated to verify the consistency of the result [50] whereas ELISA can be more consistent [51]. For both tests, use of pooled, medium to high titre sera reduces the inter-animal and inter-assay variation [52]. VNT r_1 results do not correlate consistently with those determined by

	Vaccine match	Indirect potency
Test	One-way antigenic relationship (r_1) test (VNT or LPBE)	Homologous or heterologous SP serology (VNT, LPBE, Avidity ELISA, Isotype ELISA)
What is measured	How cross-reactive are vaccine strain antibodies with other viruses	Amount of antibody to homologous or heterologous virus (different tests measure different antibodies)
Uses	Conditional selection of a vaccine strain, with final efficacy dependent upon formulation and vaccination schedule	Indirect potency of a vaccine (e.g. for batch release) or population immunity for post-vaccination monitoring
Advantages	Speed and simplicity compared to <i>in vivo</i> tests. Batch independence.	Speed and simplicity compared to <i>in vivo</i> tests. Heterologous tests take account of match.
Issues	Poor reproducibility (worse for VNT); vaccine strain and BVS availability; poorly predicts protection on its own (re-vaccination, higher dose or multiple strains in a vaccine can broaden antibody specificities).	Reproducibility; brand and batch specific (unless batches are consistent); only post-purchase monitoring unless batch release sera available; field virus antigen preparation (for avidity/isotyping)
Definitive alternatives	Combined results of homologous and heterologous potency based on the same vaccine batch	Respective homologous and heterologous potency tests

NB: VNT, virus neutralisation test; LPBE, liquid phase blocking ELISA; BVS, bovine vaccinal serum.

Table 2

Comparison between serological tests.

Feature	VNT	LPBE	SPCE	Avidity and isotype ELISAs
Status	Currently used	Currently used	Not validated for predicting protection	Novel methods
Measures	Virus neutralising antibodies	Virus binding antibodies	Virus binding antibodies	Quality of virus binding antibodies
Biohazard	Use of live virus	Inactivated or live virus	Inactivated or live virus	Inactivated virus
Reproducibility	Lower	Higher	Higher	Higher
Easy to change test virus	Yes	Needs specific reagents	Not possible in commercial assays.	Moderate. Virus needs to be purified
Volume of vaccine serum required	Large	Small	Small	Small
Correlation to protection	Better	Worse	Not established	Better, more assessments required
Speed	Slow	Fast	Fast	Fast
Availability	In house method	Limited commercial availability	Widely used commercial and in-house methods	In house method

NB: VNT, virus neutralisation test; LPBE, liquid phase blocking ELISA; SPCE, solid phase competition ELISA.

ELISA [53]. Furthermore, the amino acid changes in the capsid that have been identified as altering seroreactivity also differ in some cases for the two tests [53]. Variability may also be observed between r₁ values obtained when different virus isolates from related outbreaks are matched to the same vaccine(s) (e.g. O Egypt 2016 viruses matched against O Manisa vaccine; http://www. wrlfmd.org/country-reports/country-reports-2016). Finally, antigenic relationship tests are notoriously difficult to validate. The gold standard against which they can be judged is the combined result of a homologous and heterologous potency test, both using the same vaccine batch, but such data sets are rarely available. Low potency test precision due to constraints on the numbers of animals used [54] may be mitigated by using individual animal results to get a clearer picture, before combining them into the PD₅₀ result. However, this cannot be used comparatively, as the individual animals cannot be challenged with both the homologous and heterologous strains.

8. Measuring other properties of antibodies

Alternative serological ELISA tests have been developed in Argentina [38,55] that measure FMD antibody avidity and IgG isotypes (Table 2). The tests react vaccine antisera with purified antigens prepared from each field virus against which protection is to be measured. In the avidity test, the amount of bound antibody is compared with and without urea treatment, whilst in the isotype test, the amount of bound IgG1 and IgG2 is measured, with total IgG1 or IgG1:IgG2 ratio as the indicator of protection. As no comparison is made to the reaction of the antisera against the vaccine antigen, there is no requirement to hold stocks of vaccine virus, which have restricted availability due to their proprietary nature. It appears that IgG class and avidity correlate better with protection than total FMDV antibody (LPBE) or in vitro neutralising antibody (VNT) [56]. As ELISAs, these tests also have a good repeatability and can utilise inactivated virus antigen. A practical complication is the requirement to prepare purified antigens for each test virus from high titre virus stocks, although alternative easier purification methods are being developed, for example using size exclusion chromatography (see below). The tests are yet to become routine in international reference laboratories but are in the process of being transferred and evaluated in different parts of the world and against different serotypes and strains to verify and agree thresholds indicative of protection.

9. Difficulties with antigenic relationship tests

The lack of reproducibility of serological tests could be partly addressed by repetition, if time and cost were not issues, but overcoming the uncertainty of r_1 matching test results, as predictors of vaccine induced protection, requires additional information on vaccine potency and schedule.

Problems of reproducibility have multiple origins, some already discussed. The reagents used to undertake the tests are very difficult to standardise and different cell culture systems may be used. Vaccine antisera are fundamental to one-way relationship, avidity and isotype tests but contain antibodies which may differ qualitatively and quantitatively according to the vaccine used to raise them, the conditions of vaccination, the timing of blood collection and both between and within species differences in the immune response of immunised animals. Cell culture amplification of the field virus stocks required for testing may select for *in vitro* replication leading to fixation of mutations in capsid surface amino acids that can alter the antigenic signatures of the viruses [57].

Different tests measure different aspects of antibody-virus interaction. The VNT measures antibodies that block virus replication in cell cultures but, *in vivo*, other arms of the immune system may have a synergistic effect, such as antibody dependent phagocytosis and cytotoxicity. In contrast, the LPBE measures total antibody binding, which may include cross-reactive but non-protective antibodies to dissociated (internal) capsid components, especially if degraded vaccines or test antigens are used. The avidity and isotyping ELISAs provide specificity for the strength of reaction or the type of antibody involved, reactive to the whole 146S viral particle.

Finally, although a well-matched vaccine will be superior to a poorly matched one, if all other factors are the same (Fig. 3), because of the importance of potency and vaccination schedule, poorly matched vaccines can sometimes protect in the field, and well-matched ones fail to do so.

In practice, the difficulties of vaccine matching can be mitigated by testing multiple field isolates repeatedly to reliably discern patterns of reactivity and by considering other indicators from the laboratory, the field and experimental challenges [12]. An example is



Fig. 3. Protection windows conferred by homologous and heterologous FMD vaccines. Arrows show vaccination time points. Schematic representation, from Pay (1984) [8], based on a figure compiled by Tim Doel, redrawn by Antonello Di Nardo. The profiles of the antibody responses will be affected by vaccine potency.

provided by the characterisation of emerging genotype A/VII viruses from central Asia where concerns over poor matches against vaccines, licensed for use in Europe, were backed up by identification of amino acid changes at critical antigenic sites [58] and were sufficient to justify cross-challenge tests of the cross-protection deficit [59]. In selecting vaccines for antigen banks, matching data can be combined with information on threat prioritisation (http://www.ipcinfo.org/fileadmin/user_upload/ eufmd/Open_Session2016/Pragmatist_McLaws.pdf).

10. Establishing antibody thresholds for measuring protection

As discussed, the correlations between serology and protection differ between tests, vaccine seed strains, adjuvants and outbreak viruses and are affected by antigenic relationships, as well as animal-to-animal variation and assay variability. Additionally, animals with weak immunity may still be primed to respond rapidly to boosting by emergency vaccination [8]. This creates difficulties in setting meaningful threshold levels of antibody for protection for vaccine batch acceptance and for surveys of population immunity in the field. Ideally, a relevant potency test will have been conducted so that the relationship between serology and protection can be empirically established, even if the timing and strength of challenge may not be the same as that to be predicted in the field. A degree of compromise and uncertainty will, therefore, always remain. If the vaccine virus is antigenically close to the field virus against which protection is sought, then a homologous potency test can provide the necessary sera and associated protection data for establishing this relationship and choosing a cut-off. If the only available vaccines have an incomplete antigenic match, then a heterologous potency test is more appropriate for calibration of the serology.

As sera from homologous potency tests are not always available for test calibration, whilst heterologous potency tests are rarely performed, alternative compromises are often required:

- In the absence of any specific potency test reagents or information, test thresholds can be set based on averages determined previously from homologous potency tests for the serotype and test in question [e.g. 45, 47] However, due to the abovementioned variables, the accuracy of these estimates may vary. If the test to be used is different from the one for which the threshold has been published, then some form of crosscalibration will be required.
- 2. If only a relevant homologous test has been done when a heterologous one would have been indicated, then the threshold established from homologous potency testing can be used with the field virus substituted for the vaccine strain in the SP test.
- 3. Instead of monitoring population immunity in terms of protection, checks that the vaccination has been done properly can use, as threshold, the level of antibody in animals known to have been correctly vaccinated at the appropriate time prior to sampling. Any SP test can be used for this approach. A small-scale field study of vaccinated animals can provide the necessary sera [9]. It may be impractical to collect samples over multiple vaccination cycles to determine appropriate cut-offs for older animals, but checking population immunity in young animals that have received fewer vaccinations is usually more important.

11. Estimating vaccine potency from antigen content

The efficacy of inactivated vaccines is strongly influenced by the quantity of intact FMDV particles ("capsids" or "virions") and up to a certain threshold, increases will strengthen the immune response and the elicited protection. For the linear part of the relationship, a tenfold increase in antigen content results in an approximately threefold increase in VNT titre [60]. Therefore, manufacturers standardise the amounts of antigen to help achieve consistent potency of different production batches of vaccine. The optimum antigen payload differs between serotypes. Traditionally, the particle content has been determined spectrophotometrically after size separation by sucrose density gradient (SDG) centrifugation [61]. However, SDG is cumbersome and difficult to standardise, so simpler alternatives have been developed based on size exclusion chromatography [62], double antibody sandwich ELISAs using conformation dependent antibodies [63] and the thermofluor release assay [64]. Nevertheless, like other indirect approaches to estimate potency, the measured dose of each vaccine must be correlated to protection derived from live virus challenge tests [65]. Methods to measure the content of intact antigen in formulated vaccine would be extremely useful.

12. Sequence-based approaches to vaccine strain selection

Nowadays, it is easier to sequence the RNA genome of FMD viruses than to develop and employ serological techniques. Therefore, in principle, it should be possible to study the deduced amino acid sequence differences of antibody binding sites on FMD virus capsid surfaces and thereby predict antigenic relatedness and cross-protection between FMD viruses. The former has been done (initially in [66]), but correlations with cross-protection are complicated by the aforementioned shortage of cross-protection challenge studies. Moreover, variable dominance of antigenic sites may complicate efforts to predict cross-protection from capsid gene sequences [67], requiring more complex models that can predict changing immunodominance as well as identifying the direct effects of identified epitope changes.

Multiple studies have correlated surface changes on FMD virions to altered antigenic phenotypes as measured by serology. starting with monoclonal antibody escape mutants and later, making comparisons between vaccines and panels of field viruses (reviewed by [13]). This has identified many epitopes and antigenic sites, with similarities and differences found between serotypes (e.g. [68]). In some cases, the impact on antigenic phenotype of substitutions in predicted sites has been validated using reverse genetics [69,53]. To identify antigenic relationships and their predictors, linear mixed effects models, and more recently, more sophisticated Bayesian models [70], were developed to account for variation in pairwise cross-neutralization titres using only viral sequences and structural data. Identifying substitutions in surfaceexposed structural proteins that correlate with loss of crossreactivity is a basis for predicting both the best vaccine match for any single virus and the breadth of coverage of new vaccine candidates from their capsid sequences, where it was found to correlate strongly with gold-standard VNT r₁ values [66]. However, predictive power for cross-protection is impossible to compare given the shortage of challenge studies. More resources dedicated to post-vaccination outbreak monitoring and serosurveillance in endemic countries, where natural challenge experiments regularly occur, would make such comparisons more feasible.

13. Serology as a measure of protection for influenza

Antibody mediated protection is a significant component of other viral diseases. For influenza, in particular, there are many similarities to FMD in the approaches and challenges for defining vaccine induced protection.

An inactivated vaccine is used for human seasonal influenza, the efficacy of which can be reduced if the incorporated vaccine strain is mismatched to the field virus against which protection is needed. As for FMDV, propagating the influenza virus can alter antigenicity, in this case through egg-adaptive changes in the influenza virus haemagglutinin protein [71]. For influenza vaccines, antigenic distance is determined using the haemagglutination inhibition (HI) assay or various neutralisation assays, where the titre of antisera to the vaccine candidate is compared between the field and vaccine strain (equivalent to the r_1 value used for FMDV vaccine matching). A 4-fold drop in titre between vaccine and field strains is considered to be a substantial antigenic difference that may indicate a new vaccine seed strain is needed [72]. However, the raw heterologous titre is taken into account in this process, with lower titres increasing the importance of drop, as we have discussed above with respect to high potency FMDV vaccines. As for FMDV, the serological assays used to assess the antibody responses to influenza vaccines are hard to standardise [73]. Like FMDV's LPBE, the HI assay is quicker and more reproducible than neutralisation assays, but most current H3N2 field viruses do not agglutinate red blood cells. To improve matters, more optimal use of and better understanding of the data produced by neutralization assays has been recommended, along with increased standardization of the tests themselves to make them more comparable between centres [71]. However, neutralization assays are time consuming to carry out, reducing throughput, and so they are mainly used where they are the only option - for H3N2 viruses.

The data obtained from the antigenic characterization of viruses using HI and neutralization assays, as well as the serological reactivity of pre- and post-vaccination human sera and epidemiological and clinical information, are combined with extensive genetic sequencing data to select vaccines. These sequence data are used alongside much more extensive records of known epitopes on the haemagglutinin glycoproteins than are available for FMDV, to identify substitutions of particular concern. Similar computational techniques to FMDV have been applied to influenza [74]: antigenic cartography was the first computational technique developed to help to predict vaccine match (originally for influenza, [75], and then later for FMDV, [76]) by reducing the "noise" caused by variable serum quality and potency; the FMDV sequence-based predictors described above have also been translated to influenza, and have been refined to identify epitope changes and predict vaccine match from sequence and serology data very efficiently for the much larger datasets influenza provides [77,78]. Models can also be used to combine haemagglutinin serological and mutation data [79]. A qualitatively different class of model has emerged recently for influenza, however, which directly predicts clade "fitness", or likely future survivorship, given the current prevalence and immunological history (inferred from past prevalence, [80]). This model is now being used to predict effectiveness of candidate vaccines in the next flu season, based on the clades predicted to be circulating. Indeed, all three of these classes of models (cartographic, epitope-change and fitness-based) are now being used in reports to formal vaccine composition meetings (VCMs) as an aid to decision making, though the primary focus remains on the unmodeled serology and sequence data. Indeed, the only non-serologic test that has been accepted by regulatory authorities as a surrogate for a vaccine preventable disease is also lab-based - the IFNg Eli-Spot that was used to support licensure of the live-attenuated influenza vaccine (FluMistTM) [73].

In contrast to FMDV, seasonal influenza vaccine selection happens formally at 6-monthly VCMs coordinated by the World Health Organization that determine the vaccine for one whole hemisphere at a time (https://www.who.int/influenza/vaccines/virus/en/). As with FMDV, other factors are taken into consideration when making recommendations regarding influenza vaccine composition including the immunogenicity of a selected strain to develop adequate humoral immunity, and its growth potential for use in vaccine production.

Serology is also used to predict the strength and duration of protection induced by inactivated rabies virus vaccines, with some



Fig. 4. Use of challenge tests and serology for FMD vaccine selection and monitoring. Arrows represent decisions, and triangles represent decision alternatives.

similar challenges for test standardisation and for use and interpretation of *in vivo* tests [81–84].

14. Conclusions

Serology is widely used to assess FMD vaccines and vaccination. Antigenic suitability of vaccines makes use of matching tests that assess the serological response to the vaccine strain against field isolates. At product registration, full potency tests with homologous live virus challenge are required, but serology can be used for subsequent potency checks of batch-to-batch vaccine consistency. Finally, vaccinated populations are screened using serology to find out if vaccination has been done properly, whether enough animals have been protected and how long immunity has persisted. A combination of different serological techniques that measure heterologous titres as well as matching may be needed in vaccine selection and post vaccination monitoring and more validation is required for new commercial assays and especially for the promising avidity and isotype specific assays that have mostly been evaluated in South America, where the range of FMD virus strains is limited.

The challenge with all of these procedures is that the results can be influenced by many situation-specific variables, not all of which are easy to control. A systematic approach is therefore required that analyses the evidence for the assumptions made at each step. Moreover, confidence in the results is only possible if the appropriate test combinations and calibrations are performed (Fig. 4) with analysis of a sufficient number of animals, field viruses and tests. Many similar issues are confronted with use of serology for monitoring influenza and rabies vaccines and vaccination.

Ultimately, it is impossible to validate measures of crossprotection without actual cross-protection data. Experimental challenge studies with dangerous pathogens in large animals are not easy to perform, but as more countries with endemic FMD move towards control using vaccination, we should take advantage of the opportunities afforded to study the effectiveness of FMD vaccination in the field, where vaccinated animals are invariably challenged by heterologous field viruses, by funding suitable studies to better understand existing and new *in vitro* correlates of cross-protection alongside vaccination campaigns.

Declaration of Competing Interest

The authors have no conflicts of interest.

Acknowledgements

This review was a deliverable of a fund for applied research (FAR) from the European Commission for the Control of FMD (EuFMD). Work at the Pirbright Institute was supported by the UK Department of food and rural affairs (Grant SE1129) and the Biotechnology and Biological Sciences Research Council (Grant BBS/E/I/00007035). Richard Reeve was funded by the Biotechnology and Biological Sciences Research Council (Grant BB/R012679/1) and Alejandra Capozzo by the National Research Council of Argentina (CONICET, AC).

We are grateful for permission to adapt and use Figs. 1 and 3, originally prepared by Daryl Borley and Tim Doel respectively.

References

 Brito BP, Rodriguez LL, Hammond JM, Pinto J, Perez AM. Review of the global distribution of foot-and-mouth disease virus from 2007 to 2014. Transbound Emerg Dis 2017;64(2):312–6 (Review).

- [2] Brooksby JB. Portraits of viruses: foot-and-mouth disease virus. Intervirology 1982;18(1-2):1-23.
- [3] Casey-Bryars M, Reeve R, Bastola U, Knowles NJ, Auty H, Bachanek-Bankowska K, et al. Waves of endemic foot-and-mouth disease in eastern Africa suggest feasibility of proactive vaccination approaches. Nat Ecol Evol 2018;2 (9):1449–57.
- [4] Nagendrakumar SB, Srinivasan VA, Madhanmohan M, Yuvaraj S, Parida S, Di Nardo A, et al. Evaluation of cross-protection between O1 Manisa and O1 Campos in cattle vaccinated with foot-and-mouth disease virus vaccine incorporating different payloads of inactivated O1 Manisa antigen. Vaccine 2011;29(10):1906–12.
- [5] Maradei E, Malirat V, Beascoechea CP, Espinoza AM, Novo SG, Smitsaart E, et al. Emergence of antigenic variants of Foot-and-Mouth Disease Virus serotype O in Ecuador and preliminary evaluation of a field strain as a vaccine candidate. Vaccine 2014;32(21):2446–51.
- [6] Paton DJ, Sumption KJ, Charleston B. Options for control of foot-and-mouth disease: knowledge, capability and policy. Phil Trans R Soc B 2009;364:2657–67.
- [7] Diaz-San Segundo F, Medina GN, Stenfeldt C, Arzt J, de Los Santos T. Foot-andmouth disease vaccines. Vet Microbiol 2017;206:102–12.
- [8] Pay TWF. Factors influencing the performance of foot-and-mouth disease vaccines under field conditions. In: Kurstak E, editor. Applied virology. Academic Press Inc.; 1984. p. 73–86.
- [9] Ferrari G, Paton D, Duffy S, Bartels C, Knight-Jones T. Foot and mouth disease vaccines and post vaccination guidelines. In: Metwally S, Munstermann S, editors. The Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations and the World Organisation for Animal Health (Accessed June 2019).
- [10] Lombard M, Füssel AE. Antigen and vaccine banks: technical requirements and the role of the european antigen bank in emergency foot and mouth disease vaccination. Rev Sci Tech 2007;26(1):117–34.
- [11] Mohapatra JK, Das B, Rout M, Sreenivasa BP, Subramaniam S, Sanyal A, et al. Alternate vaccine strain selection in the wake of emerging foot-and-mouth disease virus serotype A antigenic variants in India. Vaccine 2018;31;36 (23):3191–4.
- [12] Paton DJ, Valarcher JF, Bergmann I, Matlho OG, Zakharov VM, Palma EL, et al. Selection of foot and mouth disease vaccine strains-a review. Rev Sci Tech 2005;24(3):981–93.
- [13] Mahapatra M, Parida S. Foot and mouth disease vaccine strain selection: current approaches and future perspectives. Expert Rev Vaccines 2018;17 (7):577–91.
- [14] Arrowsmith AE. Variation among strains of type A foot-and-mouth disease virus in the Eastern Mediterranean region 1964–1972. J Hyg (Lond) 1975;75 (3):387–97.
- [15] Valarcher JF, Knowles NJ, Zakharov V, Scherbakov A, Zhang Z, Shang YJ, et al. Multiple origins of foot-and-mouth disease virus serotype Asia 1 outbreaks, 2003–2007. Emerg Infect Dis 2009;15(7):1046–51.
- [16] Robinson L, Knight-Jones TJ, Charleston B, Rodriguez LL, Gay CG, Sumption KJ, et al. Global foot-and-mouth disease research update and gap analysis: 6 – immunology. Transbound Emerg Dis 2016;63(Suppl 1):56–62 (Review).
- [17] Cunliffe HR. Observations on the duration of immunity in cattle after experimental infection with foot-and-mouth disease virus. Cornell Vet. 1964;54:501-10.
- [18] Barrionuevo F, Di Giacomo S, Bucafusco D, Ayude A, Schammas J, Miraglia MC, et al. Systemic antibodies administered by passive immunization prevent generalization of the infection by foot-and-mouth disease virus in cattle after oronasal challenge. Virology 2018;518:143–51.
- [19] Doel TR. Natural and vaccine induced immunity to FMD. Curr Top Microbiol Immunol 2005;288:103–31.
- [20] Doel TR. Optimisation of the immune response to FMD vaccines. Vaccine 1999;17:1767–71.
- [21] Cox SJ, Aggarwal N, Statham RJ, Barnett PV. Longevity of antibody and cytokine responses following vaccination with high potency emergency FMD vaccines. Vaccine 2003;21(13–14):1336–47.
- [22] Terpstra C, van Maanen C, van Bekkum JG. Endurance of immunity against foot-and-mouth disease in cattle after three consecutive annual vaccinations. Res Vet Sci 1990;49:236–42.
- [23] Borley DW. Epitope dominance studies with serotype O foot-and-mouth disease (PhD thesis). UK: Oxford University; 2012.
- [24] Szczepanek SM, Barrette RW, Rood D, Alejo D, Silbart LK. Xenoepitope substitution avoids deceptive imprinting and broadens the immune response to foot-and-mouth disease virus. Clin Vaccine Immunol 2012;19 (4):461–7.
- [25] OIE. Manual of diagnostic tests and vaccines for terrestrial animals. Chapter 3.1.8. Foot and mouth disease (infection with foot and mouth disease virus); 2018. p. 433–64. http://www.oie.int/standard-setting/terrestrial-manual/ access-online/.
- [26] Lyons NA, Lyoo YS, King DP, Paton DJ. Challenges of generating and maintaining protective vaccine-induced immune responses for foot-andmouth disease virus in pigs. Front Vet Sci 2016;3:102.
- [27] Reeve R, Cox S, Smitsaart E, Beascoechea CP, Haas B, Maradei E, et al. Reducing animal experimentation in foot-and-mouth disease vaccine potency tests. Vaccine 2011;29(33):5467–73.
- [28] Pay TWF, Hingley PJ. Foot and mouth disease vaccine potency tests in cattle: the interrelationship of antigen dose, serum neutralizing antibody response and protection from challenge. Vaccine 1992;10:699–706.

- [29] Jamal SM, Bouma A, van den Broek J, Stegeman A, Chénard G, Dekker A. Footand-mouth disease vaccine potency testing: the influence of serotype, type of adjuvant, valency, fractionation method, and virus culture on the doseresponse curve in cattle. Vaccine 2008;26(50):6317–21.
- [30] Stenfeldt C, Hartwig EJ, Smoliga GR, Palinski R, Silva EB, Bertram MR, et al. Contact challenge of cattle with foot-and-mouth disease virus validates the role of the nasopharyngeal epithelium as the site of primary and persistent infection. mSphere 2018;3(6). pii: e00493-18.
- [31] Sharma GK, Mahajan S, Matura R, Biswal JK, Ranjan R, Subramaniam S, et al. Herd immunity against foot-and-mouth disease under different vaccination practices in India. Transbound Emerg Dis 2017;64(4):1133–47.
- [32] Bucafusco D, Di Giacomo S, Pega J, Juncos MS, Schammas JM, Pérez-Filgueira M, et al. Influence of antibodies transferred by colostrum in the immune responses of calves to current foot-and-mouth disease vaccines. Vaccine 2014;32(48):6576–82.
- [33] Di Giacomo S, Brito BP, Perez AM, Bucafusco D, Pega J, Rodríguez L, et al. Heterogeneity in the antibody response to foot-and-mouth disease primovaccinated calves. Transbound Emerg Dis 2015;62(3):280–7.
- [34] Robiolo B, Seki C, Fondevilla N, Grigera P, Scodeller E, Periolo O, et al. Analysis of the immune response to FMDV structural and non-structural proteins in cattle in Argentina by the combined use of liquid phase and 3ABC-ELISA tests. Vaccine 2006;24(7):997–1008.
- [35] Knight-Jones TJ, Bulut AN, Gubbins S, Stärk KD, Pfeiffer DU, Sumption KJ, et al. Retrospective evaluation of foot-and-mouth disease vaccine effectiveness in Turkey. Vaccine 2014;32(16):1848–55.
- [36] Smitsaart EN, Zanelli M, Rivera I, Fondevila N, Compaired D, Maradei E, et al. Assessment using ELISA of the herd immunity levels induced in cattle by footand-mouth disease oil vaccines. Preventive Veterinary Medicine 1998;33:283–96.
- [37] McCullough KC, De Simone F, Brocchi E, Capucci L, Crowther JR, Kihm U. Protective immune response against foot-and-mouth disease. J Virol 1992;66 (4):1835–40.
- [38] Capozzo AV, Periolo OH, Robiolo B, Seki C, La Torre JL, Grigera PR. Total and isotype humoral responses in cattle vaccinated with foot and mouth disease virus (FMDV) immunogen produced either in bovine tongue tissue or in BHK-21 cell suspension cultures. Vaccine 1997;15(6–7):624–30.
- [39] Oh Y, Fleming L, Statham B, Hamblin P, Barnett P, Paton DJ, et al. Interferon-γ induced by in vitro re-stimulation of CD4+ T-cells correlates with in vivo FMD vaccine induced protection of cattle against disease and persistent infection. PLoS One 2012;7(9):e44365.
- [40] Brehm KE, Kumar N, Thulke HH, Haas B. High potency vaccines induce protection against heterologous challenge with foot-and-mouth disease virus. Vaccine 2008;26(13):1681–7.
- [41] Mattion N, König G, Seki C, Smitsaart E, Maradei E, Robiolo B, et al. Reintroduction of foot-and-mouth disease in Argentina: characterisation of the isolates and development of tools for the control and eradication of the disease. Vaccine 2004;22(31–32):4149–62.
- [42] Duque H, Naranjo J, Carrillo C, Burbano A, Vargas J, Pauszek L, et al. Protection induced by a commercial bivalent vaccine against Foot-and-Mouth Disease 2010 field virus from Ecuador. Vaccine 2016;34(35):4140–4.
- [43] Kim T, Hong JK, Oem JK, Lee KN, Lee HS, Kim YJ, et al. Cross-protective efficacy of the O1 Manisa + O 3039 bivalent vaccine and the O 3039 monovalent vaccine against heterologous challenge with FMDV O/Jincheon/SKR/2014 in pig. Vaccine 2019;37(12):1702–9.
- [44] Clavijo A, Wright P, Kitching P. Developments in diagnostic techniques for differentiating infection from vaccination in foot-and-mouth disease. Vet J 2004;167(1):9–22.
- [45] Barnett PV, Statham RJ, Vosloo W, Haydon DT. Foot-and-mouth disease vaccine potency testing: determination and statistical validation of a model using a serological approach. Vaccine 2003;21(23):3240–8.
- [46] Maradei E, La Torre J, Robiolo B, Esteves J, Seki C, Pedemonte A, et al. Updating of the correlation between IpELISA titers and protection from virus challenge for the assessment of the potency of polyvalent aphtovirus vaccines in Argentina. Vaccine 2008;26(51):6577–86.
- [47] Robiolo B, La Torre J, Maradei E, Beascoechea CP, Perez A, Seki C, et al. Confidence in indirect assessment of foot-and-mouth disease vaccine potency and vaccine matching carried out by liquid phase ELISA and virus neutralization tests. Vaccine 2010;28(38):6235–41.
- [48] Willems T, Lefebvre DJ, Goris N, Diev VI, Kremenchugskaya SR, Paul G, et al. Characteristics of serology-based vaccine potency models for foot-and-mouth disease virus. Vaccine 2012;30(40):5849–55.
- [49] Kang YL, Jeong JY, Choi HY, Zhang Y, Liu Y, Lee HJ, et al. Evaluation and optimization of a conventional SPCE for FMD post-vaccination monitoring. BMC Vet Res 2018;14(1):371.
- [50] Rweyemamu MM. Antigenic variation in foot-and-mouth disease: studies based on the virus neutralization reaction. J Biol Standard 1984;12(3):323–37.
- [51] Tekleghiorghis T, Weerdmeester K, van Hemert-Kluitenberg F, Moormann RJ, Dekker A. Comparison of test methodologies for foot-and-mouth disease virus serotype A vaccine matching. Clin Vaccine Immunol 2014;21(5):674–83.
- [52] Mattion N, Goris N, Willems T, Robiolo B, Maradei E, Beascoechea CP, et al. Some guidelines for determining foot-and-mouth disease vaccine strain matching by serology. Vaccine 2009;27(5):741–7.
- [53] Reeve R, Borley DW, Maree FF, Upadhyaya S, Lukhwareni A, Esterhuysen JJ, et al. Tracking the antigenic evolution of Foot-and-Mouth disease virus. PLoS One 2016;11(7):e0159360.

- [54] Goris N, Maradei E, D'Aloia R, Fondevila N, Mattion N, Perez A, et al. Foot-andmouth disease vaccine potency testing in cattle using homologous and heterologous challenge strains: precision of the "Protection against Podal Generalisation" test. Vaccine 2008;26(27–28):3432–7.
- [55] Lavoria MÁ, Di-Giacomo S, Bucafusco D, Franco-Mahecha OL, Pérez-Filgueira DM, Capozzo AV. Avidity and subtyping of specific antibodies applied to the indirect assessment of heterologous protection against Foot-and-Mouth Disease Virus in cattle. Vaccine 2012;30(48):6845–50.
- [56] Brito BP, Perez AM, Capozzo AV. Accuracy of traditional and novel serology tests for predicting cross-protection in foot-and-mouth disease vaccinated cattle. Vaccine 2014;32(4):433–6.
- [57] Fry EE, Lea SM, Jackson T, Newman JW, Ellard FM, Blakemore WE, et al. The structure and function of a foot-and-mouth disease virus-oligosaccharide receptor complex. EMBO J 1999;18(3):543–54.
- [58] Bachanek-Bankowska K, Di Nardo A, Wadsworth J, Henry EKM, Parlak Ü, Timina A, et al. Foot-and-Mouth disease in the Middle East caused by an A/ ASIA/G-VII virus lineage, 2015–2016. Emerg Infect Dis 2018;24(6):1073–8.
- [59] Waters R, Ludi AB, Fowler VL, Wilsden G, Browning C, Gubbins S, et al. Efficacy of a high-potency multivalent foot-and-mouth disease virus vaccine in cattle against heterologous challenge with a field virus from the emerging A/ASIA/G-VII lineage. Vaccine 2018;36(14):1901–7.
- [60] Pay TWF, Parker MJ. Some statistical and experimental design problems in the assessment of FMD vaccine potency. Dev Biol Stand 1977;35:369–83.
- [61] Barteling SJ, Meloen RH. A simple method for the quantification of 140S particles of foot-and-mouth disease virus (FMDV). Arch Gesamte Virusforsch 1974;45(4):362–4.
- [62] Spitteler MA, Fernández I, Schabes E, Krimer A, Régulier EG, Guinzburg M, et al. Foot and mouth disease (FMD) virus: quantification of whole virus particles during the vaccine manufacturing process by size exclusion chromatography. Vaccine 2011;29(41):7182–7.
- [63] Van Maanen C, Terpstra C. Quantification of intact 146S foot-and-mouth disease antigen for vaccine production by a double antibody sandwich ELISA using monoclonal antibodies. Biologicals 1990;18(4):315–9. <u>https://doi.org/ 10.1016/1045-1056(90)90036-Y</u>.
- [64] Kotecha A, Zhang F, Juleff N, Jackson T, Perez E, Stuart D, et al. Application of the thermofluor PaSTRy technique for improving foot-and-mouth disease virus vaccine formulation. J Gen Virol 2016;97(7):1557–65.
- [65] Feng X, Ma JW, Sun SQ, Guo HC, Yang YM, Jin Y, et al. Quantitative detection of the Foot-And-Mouth disease virus serotype O 146S antigen for vaccine production using a double-antibody sandwich ELISA and nonlinear standard curves. PLoS ONE 2016;11(3):e0149569.
- [66] Reeve R, Blignaut B, Esterhuysen JJ, Opperman P, Matthews L, Fry EE, et al. Sequence-based prediction for vaccine strain selection and identification of antigenic variability in foot-and-mouth disease virus. PLoS Comput Biol 2010;6(12):e1001027.
- [67] Mahapatra M, Hamblin P, Paton DJ. Foot-and-mouth disease virus epitope dominance in the antibody response of vaccinated animals. J Gen Virol 2012;93(Pt 3):488–93.
- [68] Maree FF, Blignaut B, Esterhuysen JJ, de Beer TA, Theron J, O'Neill HG, et al. Predicting antigenic sites on the foot-and-mouth disease virus capsid of the South African Territories types using virus neutralization data. J Gen Virol. 2011;92(Pt 10):2297–309.
- [69] Bari FD, Parida S, Asfor AS, Haydon DT, Reeve R, Paton DJ, et al. Prediction and characterization of novel epitopes of serotype A foot-and-mouth disease viruses circulating in East Africa using site-directed mutagenesis. J Gen Virol 2015;96(Pt 5):1033–41.
- [70] Davies V, Reeve R, Harvey WT, Maree FF, Husmeier D. A sparse hierarchical Bayesian model for detecting relevant antigenic sites in virus evolution. Comput Stat 2017;32(3):803–43.
- [71] Ampofo WK, Azziz-Baumgartner E, Bashir U, Cox NJ, Fasce R, Giovanni M, et al. Strengthening the influenza vaccine virus selection and development process: report of the 3rd WHO informal consultation for improving influenza vaccine virus selection held at WHO headquarters, Geneva, Switzerland, 1–3 April 2014 WHO Writing Group. Vaccine 2015;33(36):4368–82.
 [72] Tosh PK, Jacobson RM, Poland GA. Influenza vaccines: from surveillance
- [72] Tosh PK, Jacobson RM, Poland GA. Influenza vaccines: from surveillance through production to protection. Mayo Clin Proc 2010;85(3):257–73.
- [73] Ward BJ, Pillet S, Charland N, Trepanier S, Couillard J, Landry N. The establishment of surrogates and correlates of protection: useful tools for the licensure of effective influenza vaccines? Hum Vaccin Immunother 2018;14 (3):647–56.
- [74] Hampson A, Barr I, Cox N, Donis RO, Siddhivinayak H, Jernigan D, et al. Improving the selection and development of influenza vaccine viruses – report of a WHO informal consultation on improving influenza vaccine virus selection, Hong Kong SAR, China, 18–20 November 2015. Vaccine 2017;35 (8):1104–9., https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC5357705/.
- [75] Smith DJ, Lapedes AS, De Jong JC, Bestebroer TM, Rimmelzwaan GF, Osterhaus AD, et al. Mapping the antigenic and genetic evolution of influenza virus. Science 2004;305:371–6.
- [76] Ludi AB, Horton DL, Li Y, Mahapatra M, King DP, Knowles NJ, et al. Antigenic variation of foot-and-mouth disease virus serotype A. J Gen Virol 2014;95(Pt 2):384–92.
- [77] Harvey WT, Benton DJ, Gregory V, Hall JP, Daniels RS, Bedford T, et al. Identification of low- and high-impact hemagglutinin amino acid substitutions that drive antigenic drift of influenza A(H1N1) viruses. PLoS Pathog 2016;12(4):e1005526.

- [78] Davies V, Harvey WT, Reeve R, Husmeier D. Improving the identification of antigenic sites in the H1N1 Influenza virus through accounting for the experimental structure in a sparse hierarchical Bayesian model. J Roy Stat Soc: Ser C (Appl Stat) 2019. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/rssc.12338</u> (Early Online Publication).
- [79] Wang P, Zhu W, Liao B, Cai L, Peng L, Yang J. Predicting influenza antigenicity by matrix completion with antigen and antiserum similarity. Front Microbiol 2018;9:2500.
- [80] Łuksza M, Lässig M. A predictive fitness model for influenza. Nature 2014;507 (7490):57-61.
- [81] Moore SM, Hanlon CA. Rabies-specific antibodies: measuring surrogates of protection against a fatal disease. PLoS Negl Trop Dis 2010;4(3):e595.
 [82] Chabaud-Riou Martine, Moreno Nadège, Guinchard Fabien, Nicolai Marie
- [82] Chabaud-Riou Martine, Moreno Nadège, Guinchard Fabien, Nicolai Marie Claire, Niogret-Siohan Elisabeth, Sève Nicolas, et al. G-protein based ELISA as a potency test for rabies vaccines. Biologicals 2017;46:124–9. <u>https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.biologicals.2017.02.002</u>.
- [83] WHO. Rabies vaccines. Wkly Epidemiol Rec 2007;82:425-35.
- [84] Schiffelers MJ, Blaauboer B, Bakker W, Hendriksen C. Replacing the NIH test for rabies vaccine potency testing: a synopsis of drivers and barriers. Biologicals 2014;42(4):205–17.